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	QUESTION


Please write down your full name.


	SALEM SASSOON


Salem.  S-A-L-E-M.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


That's Salem.


	QUESTION


And your middle name?


	SALEM SASSOON


Solomon Sassoon.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


But, wait a minute, can you ... in Baghdad, they used to call him Abutima(?).  Okay, forget it.


	QUESTION


What's Abutima?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Forget it.


	QUESTION


No, maybe you're telling me something interesting.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Forget it. 


	QUESTION


Okay.  


	(LAUGHTER) 


	QUESTION


Name of your wife.


	SALEM SASSOON


What?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Wife.


	QUESTION


Your wife's name.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Violet Shemtob.


	QUESTION


So Shembob was your ... S-H-E-M-T-O-B?





	VIOLET SHEMTOB


S ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


H-E-M-T-O-B.


	QUESTION


T-O-B.  And your sister's first name. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Albertine.


	SALEM SASSOON


Albertine.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Also same name.


	QUESTION


I know that, I know. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


I thought you thought from another woman.


	QUESTION


No, no, you're sisters.  So I knew it was the same.  Great.  Okay now.  When and where were you born?


	SALEM SASSOON


In Baghdad.


	QUESTION


Yes.  And what year were you born in Baghdad?


	SALEM SASSOON


Uh ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


1909.


	SALEM SASSOON


September nine, 1909.


	QUESTION


Oh, September nine, 1909.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Right.  All nine.


	QUESTION


Okay.  That was about the same as my uncle, Abdella Zulka.  I think he's about the same age.


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Yeah.  Now, tell us um, about your birth place.  Your home where you grew up in. 


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, (Clears Throat) we had a small home.  Uh ... (Clears Throat) and the street, I don't remember the street.  Anyhow, I was born (Inaudible) still I was young.  They moved to rent it, big home, because our bigger brother Halawi wanted to get married.  And so they need a bigger space. 


	QUESTION


Ahah.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


So ... 


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


So we went to that place.  And that home is double home.  A small home, to enter.  They called it Durahanna(?)  You know what's Durahanna?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No.


	QUESTION


No.


	SALEM SASSOON


Durahanna, it means ... it's a (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


It means what?


	SALEM SASSOON


Dura hanna.


	QUESTION


Dura hanna.  And it means what?


	SALEM SASSOON


It's a ... it is the entrance of a small house.


	QUESTION


Yes.  A courtyard?


	SALEM SASSOON


It has a large room.


	QUESTION


Yeah.


	SALEM SASSOON


And before, that Muslim, for the ... for the men. 


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


If they receive a visitor. 


	QUESTION


Friend.


	SALEM SASSOON


They go there.


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


Then, after that, there's the big house.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


They call it harrad(?).  Harrad is the ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Women.


	SALEM SASSOON


Female, it was.


	QUESTION


What do you mean, for women?  


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) harrad, it means (Inaudible) 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


Harrad means woman.


	QUESTION


A ladies ... the ladies's area. 


	SALEM SASSOON


Ladies.  All right. 


	QUESTION


Okay.  And so the Durahanna was the receiving room.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


For the men. 


	QUESTION


Right.  I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


Durahanna harrad.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) like us.


	QUESTION


Room for men.  Okay, good. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Now where was that house located?  Was that in the city of Baghdad?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah, the city.  But it was surrounded by Muslim neighbors.


	QUESTION


Muslim ... I see.  Was that typical to live with Muslims, or did Muslims ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, at that time, they were nice people, (Inaudible)  They were not so bad.  The children were still, the (Inaudible) take off (Inaudible)


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


But the old people were good.  They were still nice people.


	QUESTION


Now did you go to a Jewish school?  Or did ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Yes.


	QUESTION


I see.  Which school did ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


I started ... start, they call it start.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Like a Hebrew school.


	QUESTION


Hebrew school, yeah.


	SALEM SASSOON


The Jewish school.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


It's a very small house.


	QUESTION


Yes. 


	SALEM SASSOON


Belongs to a very short fellow.  Who is the teacher.  And he has his wife, she sit down there, and put something here, and she teach the children.


	QUESTION


I see.  It's like what they call a heather(?).


	SALEM SASSOON


At another ... a son and daughter, they teach all the children.


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


But the old man, this short man, he was the head teacher.  (Inaudible)  


	QUESTION


Now until what ... until you were how old, did you go to that school? 


	SALEM SASSOON


Not long.  I went there maybe at the age of seven.  Till nine, something.  At the end, I moved (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


That's the French school.


	QUESTION


The French school.  Alliance (Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.  That's a sponsored by ... by the (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Right, right.


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) she would teach us there, from Paris.  The (Inaudible) the local ones, that (Inaudible)  So, that alliance school, was the only school for ... except there is the arran(?), which is different.  It was local.  But in this school, it is seven sessions a day.  Four hours French.  One hour Arabic.  One hour (Inaudible)  Like one hour (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


That's great.


	SALEM SASSOON


That's why we know all the languages.


	QUESTION


Languages.  And you both, you all went to that school?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yeah. 


	QUESTION


Oh, that's great.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No.  For girls. 


	QUESTION


Yeah.  Okay.  There were two separate schools.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


This for boys.


	QUESTION


I see.  Great.  And you went there until you were how old?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, I went there, maybe five years.  Until I was 24.  No, 19.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


What are you (Inaudible) 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


Fourteen.


	QUESTION


Fourteen.


	SALEM SASSOON


So, I was 14, 15.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


Something like that.


	QUESTION


And then you started working?


	SALEM SASSOON


I finish, and I went working.


	QUESTION


Now, you worked with your father?


	SALEM SASSOON


No.  I work with Muslim firm, that gives imports of irrigation engines.  And they have farms there.  (Inaudible) I worked there, as employee.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


Little by little, I was promoted.  And I used to go out in the field.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


To (Inaudible) with the Arabs.  With stones.  Because they're illiterate.  They don't speak.


	QUESTION


Oh, you had to explain to them how to use the products?


	SALEM SASSOON


What?


	QUESTION


You had to explain to them how to use the products?


	SALEM SASSOON


No.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


How much they need.


	SALEM SASSOON


How ... 


	QUESTION


How much they needed.


	SALEM SASSOON


They have (Inaudible)  Everyone has a piece of (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


You see, for instance, the ... the firm has (Inaudible) field.


	QUESTION


Right. 


	SALEM SASSOON


Devoted.  And every family take a small piece. 


	QUESTION


Right. 


	SALEM SASSOON


Your ... the ... the boss, the owner gives them water irrigation.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


That's the engines.  At the (Clears Throat) the products supposed to be divided half and half. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


Of course.  They are still (Inaudible)  But what is this, received.  We're go and make an account.


	QUESTION


Right, right.  So what did you do, how long were you at that firm?


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, that ... 19, 24, 25.  (Inaudible) 


	QUESTION


And then what happened?


	SALEM SASSOON


And then I moved with a brother.  As a seraf(?). You know what seraf, a small banker.  I work there.


	QUESTION


You worked at a bank?


	SALEM SASSOON


Huh?


	QUESTION


You ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


His brother. 


	QUESTION


With his ... you started (Inaudible) 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	QUESTION


You have like money exchange.


	SALEM SASSOON


My brother was (Inaudible)  But later on, I joined him as a partner.


	QUESTION


In his ... in his banking firm.


	SALEM SASSOON


Huh?


	QUESTION


In the banking firm.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


And what were you doing?  Discounting trade notes, and things like that?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yes.  We have, like a bank, we have client, they bring money, put, deposit it with us.  We have (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


I see.  And, so that was like the Zilka Bank?  Like the Zilka Bank?


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, the same thing.


	QUESTION


Same kind of business.  Now, how long did you do that for?


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, until 1940, my father passed away.  So I stayed alone.  And the war started.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


And ... (Clears Throat) 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


I stopped the banking, because there's no confidence anymore.  So, I start buying some goods.


	QUESTION


Yes.  You were importing goods from overseas.


	SALEM SASSOON


Not importing.  Buying it local.


	QUESTION


Locally.


	SALEM SASSOON


And at that time, I had (Inaudible) I was comoshitali(?)  You heard about it.


	QUESTION


Sorry, what did you say?


	SALEM SASSOON


Shitali.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


This is this.


	SALEM SASSOON


During the war, there was, the English, and the Arashitali.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Like coup d'etat.


	SALEM SASSOON


Shitali went with Hitler.


	QUESTION


Right. 


	SALEM SASSOON


And the English start war with them.  And it was one time, shitali escaped the city stays without government.  So, they were (Inaudible) they were killing the Jews.  And ... and they had the (Inaudible) misfortune to be stabbed.  It's a long story.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Do you want to see Julliette.  You know Julliette.


	SALEM SASSOON


Julliette.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


The sister of Rachel and David.


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, Julliette Elias.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yeah.  She was ...  A daughter was born at that time.  He went to see her, and they stabbed him on the street.


	SALEM SASSOON


On the street.  Three ... three soldiers followed me.  I ran.  They caught me.  They took my watch.  They took ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Wallet, everything.


	SALEM SASSOON


My wallet, everything.  And then everyone should be shot.  I missed them all.  But one get a little bit here.  And then they go.  Here comes another one.  (Inaudible) with a big knife, (Inaudible) to my house, and cut my wrists.


	QUESTION


Ay yi yi.


	SALEM SASSOON


So, as it happened, a taxi, that we know passed by.  Who saved my life.  He took me to the hospital.  And told me to sit down.  And I see the ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) and the police, and shooting, everything.


	SALEM SASSOON


The shooting, all over.  (Inaudible) hospital.  In the hospital, they told me to (Inaudible)  They say they wanted to kill me.  But later, when someone comes and show me, (Inaudible) told him take him to the (Inaudible)  I went to the (Inaudible)


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


A lot of uh, injured there.  So, and that's ... they would pick me up, and she took me to the place, and she called the ... the doctor.  To ... 


	QUESTION


To stitch you up.


	SALEM SASSOON


To stitch me up.


	QUESTION


Wow.  So you were stabbed in your arm, and in your chest.  


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


So my arm, thank God, there is the big vein was not cut.  But only this here was cut.  Okay.  I just ... the knife, reached the


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Lung.


	SALEM SASSOON


The lung. 


	QUESTION


Oh.


	SALEM SASSOON


And start to bleed.  And they had (Inaudible)  Anyhow, the doctors give up.  But thank God, little by little, it healed.  I had to stay for three months in the hospital.  I got out of the hospital weighing 105 pounds.


	QUESTION


And what were you when you entered the hospital?


	SALEM SASSOON


What?


	QUESTION


How much did you weigh when you entered the hospital?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, must be 150, 160.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) human being.


	QUESTION


Wow.  And then what happened?


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) later on, I had goods.  Bought before.  Of course they were ... 


	QUESTION


They went up in price?


	SALEM SASSOON


Much (Inaudible)  But what if I make money as (Inaudible)  I want ... I wanted to get out.  And there was no ... there's only India.  The United States, they had the ... a ... 


	QUESTION


Quota?


	SALEM SASSOON


Quota.  And the quota is hundred (Inaudible)  And there was 15 hundred in the quota.  That means 15 years.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


But, the quota (Inaudible)  And you're looking, and there is (Inaudible) who has relatives here.  And they want to do, they come here, they come apply for a visa.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Since 1942.


	SALEM SASSOON


So I did apply for visa.  And thank God, after a few months, the (Inaudible) me and my brother.  Now, remains to get out of there, to take a passport.  But first of all, we had to find how to get there.  Thank God, at that time, a route has been open.  My ... what (Inaudible)  Anyhow, I went there, and he told me, he was a friend.  He told me that after you get the passport, and the exit visa.  And a passport, (Inaudible) it's a long route.  It has to go to Palestine, Egypt, South Africa. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


South America.


	SALEM SASSOON


South America, Brazil.  All the way up to Miami.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) Florida. 


	SALEM SASSOON


And ... 


	QUESTION


So that's the route you took?


	SALEM SASSOON


What?


	QUESTION


That's the route you took?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


There was no other way. 


	QUESTION


So you went, you crossed over to Palestine by car or something. 


	SALEM SASSOON


Now, he told me you got ... they call you a few hours, two hours before.  They call you to go there.  If you have a space (Inaudible) you go back.  So I was all the time planning to go.  So, thank God, we got out of it.  It took us 15 years to get to the United States.


	QUESTION


From leaving Baghdad?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) what.  Fifteen.  Fifteen days (Inaudible) 	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


We stayed about eight days.


	QUESTION


No, it must have taken longer. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No.  (Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


We stayed eight days in Egypt. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Egypt. 


	QUESTION


And then, took the plane on the way to ... to Lagos.  To Syria.  And (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Oh, you took a plane.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yes. 


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah, yeah.


	QUESTION


And then from South Africa you took a boat?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


No, (Inaudible) 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	QUESTION


A plane to Brazil?


	SALEM SASSOON


It was Pan American. 


	QUESTION


I see.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


And those plane, it was uh, army only.


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


Across the ... the ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Pacific, Atlantic, what?


	SALEM SASSOON


And we went to Brazil.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


And (Inaudible) Brazil.


	QUESTION


Where did you go?  Rio, or Sao Paulo?


	SALEM SASSOON


We went to (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Then you went from Brazil to Miami.  Wow. 


	SALEM SASSOON


And from Miami of course to New York.


	QUESTION


And when did you arrive in the States?


	SALEM SASSOON


I arrived in State July 31st, forty ... 1942.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Forty two.


	QUESTION


Forty two.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yeah.


	QUESTION


Okay. 


	SALEM SASSOON


After a few months, I was called to the army.


	QUESTION


From the United States.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yeah.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yes.  


	(LAUGHTER) 


	QUESTION


So did you go into the army?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yes, (Inaudible) 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Otherwise (Inaudible) American.  


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	QUESTION


Right.  Because my father had to go.


	SALEM SASSOON


I went to the army beginning, you know, for, 1943.  So, from there, I was shipped to England.  And a few days after, went a division of (Inaudible)  


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) his mother.  Always with his ... 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No, no.  In the army, no.  From the army, no.  


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


In America.


	SALEM SASSOON


In Normandy, we stayed 60 days, in Normandy (Inaudible) well, we travelled from England to ... it was (Inaudible)  I went in a boat.  When it goes back, it was ... it was sunk.  Uh, there, the army was stuck with the junction, in France, they called it (Inaudible)eau.  They couldn't move.  And we were staying 60 days.  On the edges.  Without facilities, or showers.  Water.  It was very hard life.  But later on, they broke it.  It as soon as they broke it, it was a sign, to (Inaudible) section of the headquarters.  In the (Inaudible) section.  (Inaudible) battles.  All the battles, this, first headquarters has to go behind the (Inaudible)  And they had to go through all the battles (Inaudible)  (Inaudible) discharged, in 1945.  (Inaudible) October.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


After that, I started export business. 


	QUESTION


Now in the army, you joined the army, in ... in 1943?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


At the beginning of '43.  But you weren't married yet.


	SALEM SASSOON


I was a few months ago, (Inaudible) I become citizen.


	QUESTION


I see.  So then and after the war, you became a citizen.


	SALEM SASSOON


Otherwise, they (Inaudible)over visa, I am not American.


	QUESTION


Oh, I see.  I see.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Since he went to the army.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


He's American. 


	QUESTION


Right.  The same with my father.  He had the same thing.  So you were in five battles.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yes.


	QUESTION


You arrived in Normandy what year?


	SALEM SASSOON


In 1944.


	QUESTION


Forty four.  That was the big invasion on Omaha beach? 


	SALEM SASSOON


On June.


	QUESTION


You were in that invasion.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yeah, he was there.


	QUESTION


Wow. 


	SALEM SASSOON


It was hell on earth. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


God saved him.


	QUESTION


He (Inaudible) 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) you know, you have to go in the water. 


	QUESTION


Right.  And then they were shooting at you?  


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


Like a thief, to go to (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


And they were shooting at you?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Oh, my God.


	SALEM SASSOON


All over.  


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


They ... life has no ... has no value.


	QUESTION


Right.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


So Bob, you don't need the book.


	QUESTION


I need the book.  I need the ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No. 


	QUESTION


Let me ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Now, let me ask you.  Um, back to ... then you went to the export business. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yes.


	QUESTION


Then you started ... now what did you export, and where did you export to?


	SALEM SASSOON


Export textiles.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


And they have my brother (Inaudible) the husband (Inaudible)  He was in Panama.  I shipped him some goods.  And they ship that to Baghdad.  And they had some (Inaudible) came from uh, (Inaudible) South America. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


I made a good business with that.  And thank God, (Inaudible)  After a couple of years, my brother came from Panama, and we (Inaudible)  And we stayed there until he passed away.


	QUESTION


And you exported textiles.


	SALEM SASSOON


Textiles.


	QUESTION


Fabric?  Gray goods, or ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Fabrics.


	QUESTION


Fabrics.  Now, going back to Baghdad.  Now how many brothers and sisters did you have?


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, I have one brother and sister, half.  Their mother died. 


	QUESTION


Right. 


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) older.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


And we have five brothers, and two sisters.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


And the other one.


	QUESTION


And the other, I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible)


	QUESTION


So those were your brothers and sisters.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Yeah.


	SALEM SASSOON


Two of the brother, (Inaudible) sisters.  Then three ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


Sons.  One of them married one, it was six, seven years ago. 


	QUESTION


Now did everyone go to the Alliance school?


	SALEM SASSOON


What?


	QUESTION


All the children went to the Alliance school?


	SALEM SASSOON


My children?


	QUESTION


No.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No, no, your brother.


	QUESTION


Your brothers and sisters.


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, no.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No, no.


	SALEM SASSOON


My sister never went to school at all.  My brothers, we all went, yet.  But the second one went to school, and they went to England. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


England.


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


And he lived there most of his life.


	QUESTION


I see.  I see.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


About Joceline?  About Joe?


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible)


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible) married one of their (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Now, what was ... what was your household like? You observed all the ... you went to synagogue every Shabbat, and ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Yes.  Her husband, this is (Inaudible) they took the children every Saturday.  And we go (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


No, no, I mean in Baghdad.


	SALEM SASSOON


In Baghdad, when I was very young, I used to go with my father every Saturday.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


My father, he was (Inaudible)  He was old.  But I had to go (Inaudible) with him.  Then we come back, to start reading (Inaudible)


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible Portion)


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Now what kind of toys did you play with?


	SALEM SASSOON


Toys?


	QUESTION


Yeah. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No toys.  


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


We never had toys. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	QUESTION


I see.  Backgammon.


	SALEM SASSOON


We never had toys.


	QUESTION


But did you have balls, did you have bicycles.


	SALEM SASSOON


Bicycle, yes, I ride bicycle. 


	QUESTION


Now, what was the food like in your home?  The food.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


The food.


	SALEM SASSOON


In our home?


	QUESTION


Yeah. 


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) mostly chicken, fish.  Beets.  


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


We always cook home.  We hardly going out to eat.


	QUESTION


Right, right.  But everybody is kosher.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Kosher.  There is no non kosher.


	QUESTION


Right.  And everyone would come to your home, and deliver the ... the kosher meat, and all that.


	SALEM SASSOON


No, we go and buy it.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


They go and buy it. 


	QUESTION


Now ... 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) go to a kosher butcher.  He take kosher chickens.  (Inaudible) from that time. 


	QUESTION


What ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Fish.


	QUESTION


What kind of help do you have in your home?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


What kind of help, (Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, we have two, no?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


Not in ... in Baghdad.


	SALEM SASSOON


In Baghdad or here?


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


In Baghdad.


	QUESTION


In Baghdad.


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, Baghdad.  It was, at least we have two.  (Inaudible) left, I have a driver, a watchman.  A boy.  And the woman to cook.  But here, (Inaudible)  What (Inaudible Portion) but it not so bad.  Later on, as soon as we got children, and moved to a big house.


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


In Larchmont.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


But, we got (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


Now was any of your help Jewish people?  Or were they all Muslims?


	SALEM SASSOON


Huh?


	QUESTION


In Baghdad, your help.  Were any of them Jewish?


	SALEM SASSOON


In Baghdad?


	QUESTION


Yeah. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


The maid.  The maid.  Was Jewish, anyone?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, yes, yes.


	QUESTION


Some of them were Jewish?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, except the watchman was Muslim.  And the driver.  But the driver later, I left him, and start (Inaudible)


	QUESTION


And who, the other help in the house, were they Jewish?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah, of course. 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


We have a maid.  She was (Inaudible) 50 or 40 years.


	QUESTION


And she was Jewish.


	SALEM SASSOON


She was Jewish.


	QUESTION


Was she from Kurdistan, or was she ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


No, from (Inaudible) local.


	QUESTION


Local.  Now, how did you hear about events around the world?  Like for example, World War II.  You would get news from the BBC, or how did you hear about it.


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, with the war (Inaudible)


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


No, but (Inaudible) 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES) 


	SALEM SASSOON


After the war, or ... 


	VIOLET SHEMTOB


1939, yeah.  1939.  After the war ... 


	QUESTION


No, before the war.


	SALEM SASSOON


Before the war, well there was the radio. 


	(SIDE B)


	QUESTION


(In Progress) ... married at 14 or 15.  Did they ... what did they do at home all those times?


	SALEM SASSOON


They took care of their children.  It was ... 


	WOMAN


No, before. 


	QUESTION


No, before they got married.


	WOMAN


Before they got married.  They would stay with their mother to help.


	QUESTION


They helped around the house.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


Was that, that was typical, the girls would do that, or ... they didn't learn how to read or write?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, no, the girls.  They didn't go to work.


	QUESTION


Right.  No, but they didn't read or write?


	WOMAN


Not with our generation.


	QUESTION


No.  I see.  Okay.  Now ... 


	(B-ROLL) 


	QUESTION


So tell me about ... so you got married in the States.  But how did you meet your wife?


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, it was ... it was match maker by her aunt.  I don't know.  They were (Inaudible) and they wrote him, and then she match maker.


	WOMAN


(Inaudible)


	SALEM SASSOON


Well, we engage her by a proxy.  And ... 


	QUESTION


Oh, you hadn't met her.


	SALEM SASSOON


What?


	QUESTION


You didn't ... you didn't meet her before.


	SALEM SASSOON


No.  And at that time, there was a law.  That was veterans would come, they had (Inaudible) bring over their fiances.  So they gave her a visa right away.  And she came, and we both met here. 


	QUESTION


So how long did you know her from when she came, to when you got married?


	SALEM SASSOON


Fifteen days.


	QUESTION


Fifteen days.  


	(LAUGHTER) 


	WOMAN


But her mother, she knows my mother.


	QUESTION


I see. 


	WOMAN


His mother.


	QUESTION


Now, what did that ... ?


	WOMAN


My mother used to go to his mother while he was sick.


	QUESTION


I see.  So you were saying.


	WOMAN


Because there was, uh, two or three blocks.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


No, not a block.  Less.  


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


One block from each other.


	QUESTION


I see.  Now, what did that ... how did you meet your husband?


	WOMAN


Through me.  (Laughs) 


	QUESTION


Oh, okay.  You mean you knew that, uh, Salem had a brother, so then ...


	WOMAN


Yeah.  Because he was ... yeah, he was with us.


	QUESTION


But your brother was in Panama, or your brother ... ?


	WOMAN


He came 1948.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah, he was (Inaudible) in Panama.


	WOMAN


1948 he came.


	QUESTION


He came here.


	WOMAN


And he got married '47.


	QUESTION


Oh, '47.


	WOMAN


He came '48.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


And that's why, uh, we need the matchmaker.


	QUESTION


So ...   I see.  And then ... then you came over.


	WOMAN


Yeah, in 1950.


	QUESTION


I see.  I see.


	WOMAN


With the war.  And I took the ... the older one.  And then the younger.


	QUESTION


I see.  (Laughs) 


	WOMAN


Yes, it's not our problem, but it's given ...


	QUESTION


Uh, now, uh ... so what was ... tell me what your wedding was like.


	SALEM SASSOON


It was, uh, on the spirit of the moment.  We couldn't have the ... the (Inaudible Portion) or visited by phone.


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


We would make this ... uh, nice wedding dress for her.


	QUESTION


Okay.


	WOMAN


Hotel Pierre.


	SALEM SASSOON


And, uh, we (Inaudible) up there and ...


	WOMAN


And (Inaudible) he says this is the first wedding that he went to in America.


	MAN


Yeah, because most hotels ... most weddings were ... during the war were at home.  Of course this was after the war.


	SALEM SASSOON


No, it was in the Pierre ... Hotel Pierre.


	QUESTION


Wow.


	SALEM SASSOON


And then right away we ... (Overlap) ... 


	WOMAN


You say there may be 100 there were?  A 100 people?


	SALEM SASSOON


I don't remember.


	WOMAN


I don't know either.


	QUESTION


Do you have pictures from the wedding?


	WOMAN


Yeah, what for ... you want to see?


	QUESTION


Maybe I'll ... maybe I'll use them in the book.


	WOMAN


You could use this, (Inaudible).  My ... my wedding pictures or ... or ... ?


	QUESTION


No, I mean, if you want ...


	WOMAN


Or the whole thing?


	QUESTION


Whatever you want, whatever pictures.  If you want pictures.  You don't have to get it now.  Later on.  Later on.  Now, uh, and what about your wedding, what was your wedding like?


	WOMAN


Same ... was ...


	WOMAN


Double.


	QUESTION


You did it together?


	WOMAN


No.


	WOMAN


No, we (Inaudible) the other one.  It's the older one.


	QUESTION


Yeah, the same ... similar.


	WOMAN


Yes.


	QUESTION


Okay, good.  All right, now, uh, tell us about your relations in Baghdad, and interactions with Christians and Muslims.


	WOMAN


Very nice(?).


	SALEM SASSOON


Um, well, it was the (Inaudible).


	QUESTION


Right.


	SALEM SASSOON


My relations at that time was very good.


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm. 


	SALEM SASSOON


But the most of their ... if they'd need you, they are your friend ... (Inaudible) ... if they don't need you, they ...


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	SALEM SASSOON


So the firm I went to ...


	QUESTION


If they don't need you, what happens?  Then they ... then they ... ?


	SALEM SASSOON


They don't even know you.


	QUESTION


I see.


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	SALEM SASSOON


So what happened, that, uh ... I was hoping that I was the top employee there.


	QUESTION


Yeah.


	SALEM SASSOON


And, uh, as soon as they (Inaudible) a few months, they ... they broke up.


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


So I approached that.  One of them was the most ... the most (Inaudible) ... he didn't even come to visit.


	QUESTION


Gee.


	SALEM SASSOON


And, uh, the other one came for a short visit.  I never saw the (Inaudible).


	QUESTION


Hmm.  So what was the friends you got?  And what about with Christians?  


	SALEM SASSOON


Christians have no much, uh ...


	WOMAN


Relation.


	SALEM SASSOON


I didn't have much.


	WOMAN


Only neighbors, that.


	QUESTION


Well, yeah, more ... there are more Muslims around, so you ...


	SALEM SASSOON


The question all of the time used to ... what they would call friction between (Inaudible).


	QUESTION


The Christians would do that?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


Why?


	SALEM SASSOON


Well ...


	WOMAN


Jealousy.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


You go down more ... promoted, then the friction.


	SALEM SASSOON


But remember ... Christians (Inaudible) no ...


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


Any of that.


	QUESTION


But did you socialize ... would your family socialize with the Muslims?


	SALEM SASSOON


No.


	QUESTION


No.  And what about from work?  You would never see ...


	SALEM SASSOON


Only at work.


	QUESTION


Only at work you'd see them.


	SALEM SASSOON


Only at work, otherwise I wouldn't ... I don't see them.


	QUESTION


Was it very formal, the relationship at work between the Muslims and you?  You called one "Mr. This, Mr. This" or ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Well ...


	QUESTION


... you were on a first name basis?


	SALEM SASSOON


No.  Besides, uh, if they withdraw, but they (Inaudible) you something ... what I do ... there was no ...


	QUESTION


No social interaction.


	SALEM SASSOON


No.


	QUESTION


Okay.  Uh, dee-dee-dee.


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	QUESTION


Can you tell me some special expressions, uh, in Arabic that you used, but the English translation?


	(OFF-MIKE) 


	SALEM SASSOON


Of what ... what they say?


	QUESTION


Some special expressions in Arabic.


	SALEM SASSOON


Uh, is ...


	QUESTION


Like wisdom.  Wisdom.


	SALEM SASSOON


Wis ... they say (Inaudible).


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	SALEM SASSOON


They're very much ... they're very much ... is the brother of the, uh ... uh ... the brother of Smarty(?).  The big ... the very extensively ...


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


I mean, if you exaggerated, you want ... you ...


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	SALEM SASSOON


It's the brother of the ... of the one that is ... (Laughs) ... like they say it, one ... (Inaudible) ... she goes to the ... to the extreme.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


Uh, the (Inaudible) say, it ... it comes back to the minuses.


	QUESTION


I see.  It comes back to the median.


	SALEM SASSOON


So, it the ... yeah ... that's ...


	QUESTION


You mean like in business things get way up in price, and then they come back down to the median?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.  Yeah.


	QUESTION


Any other expressions?


	SALEM SASSOON


That's ...


	QUESTION


You know, special things that come to mind.


	SALEM SASSOON


Uh, there was (Speaks in Arabic), little ... little by little the ... the ... the ...


	QUESTION


The plant grows?


	SALEM SASSOON


Uh, little by little the, uh ...


	QUESTION


Now, would you like to go back to Iraq if it was possible to visit?  Would you like to go back to Iraq?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yes, if I see it in the dream, I get to (Inaudible) here.


	QUESTION


I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


I don't want to see it again.


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm.  Why is that, because you have bad memories from the ... (Overlap) ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah, very bad memories.  Very bad memories.  I hated it back then, and I don't want to go as ...


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	QUESTION


But you hated it after you were stabbed, or before that you hated it?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, before that.  I see we were always second, uh, citizens.


	QUESTION


Second class citizens.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


Now, did you also always hate living there?  Or you liked it?


	WOMAN 


I hated it.


	QUESTION


Really?


	WOMAN


I was scared all my life.


	QUESTION


I see.  Why were you scared of ... ?


	WOMAN


Especially after the coup ... coup d'etat.


	QUESTION


I see, in '41.


	WOMAN


I will tell you the story then, and finish with it.


	QUESTION


Okay.  Well, you can tell me now.


	WOMAN


It's all right to raise?


	QUESTION


Yes.  Yes.


	WOMAN


You see, we were sitting in this ... the coup d'etat.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	WOMAN


Before the war with the English people.


	QUESTION


This is in 1941?


	WOMAN


No, no.


	WOMAN


No, '39.


	QUESTION


'39, okay.


	WOMAN


'39.  We were sitting outside.


	QUESTION


Yeah.


	WOMAN


But the door is open, we want only to see ... it was moonlight.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	WOMAN


And we're sitting there.


	QUESTION


Yes.


	WOMAN


And all of a sudden somebody came ... two ... two or three or four Muslim came and opened the gate of the garden and ... and come to us.  And they told me, "You were in the terrace, and you make this to the plane."  And they want to take me to the police station.


	QUESTION


Oh, my God.


	WOMAN


So my brother was there.  He said, "I don't want to take ... you know, to take my sister ... I come with you."  But you were afraid, you were scared, we had Muslim near us, they are very prominent from the ... from the government.


	QUESTION


Umm.


	WOMAN


We called them.


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm. 


	WOMAN


And we told them the story.


	QUESTION


Yes.  Was your brother already gone?


	WOMAN


He came ... he went to the police station.


	QUESTION


And then you told them ...


	WOMAN


And I called them.


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm. 


	WOMAN


After one hour he came back.


	QUESTION


From the police station.


	WOMAN


Yeah, yeah, they did.  I mean, they were bad.  Bad.


	QUESTION


In other words, they wanted to torture everyone.


	WOMAN


Yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah, of course.  And like do this to the plane, and the plane ...


	QUESTION


Yeah, obviously it's really ...


	WOMAN


Johnny(?), they're bad.


	QUESTION


Yeah.


	WOMAN


I hate them.


	QUESTION


Really.


	WOMAN


(Chuckles)  `Til now they said, "You go back to Baghdad.  That's enough."


	QUESTION


You mean you have no confidence in them.


	WOMAN


No.  No.  I would (Inaudible) ... maybe later, yeah.


	WOMAN


No, I am going to get the (Inaudible).


	WOMAN


Oh.  Thank you, sir.


	QUESTION


Well, yes, thank you.  


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	WOMAN


(Laughs).


	WOMAN


Salem.


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, it was good.  Thank you for coming(?).


	QUESTION


Thank you.


	(OFF-MIKE) 


	QUESTION


So in other words, you didn't ... you didn't have any good memories there.


	SALEM SASSOON


Very bad memories.


	QUESTION


Even when you were a young boy ...


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


... it wasn't a fun place to live or anything.


	SALEM SASSOON


Not good.  And his is the (Inaudible) ... 


	(BACKGROUND NOISE) 


	SALEM SASSOON


... and the (Inaudible) was that.


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm. 


	SALEM SASSOON


If someone had that experience, I don't see (Inaudible) the case.


	QUESTION


Right.  No, I know.  But I was just saying from before.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


What were the happiest moments you had in Baghdad?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, happiest moment, uh, you know ...


	WOMAN


It was to go to the club at night.


	SALEM SASSOON


It was ...


	WOMAN


And they have fun.


	QUESTION


Tell me about the clubs.  Were they, uh, open to everybody?  They were ... ?


	SALEM SASSOON


No, you'd have to ... (Overlap) ... 


	WOMAN


You'd have to make ... to go in there ...


	QUESTION


Be a member.


	WOMAN


Member.


	QUESTION


But were the clubs, uh, Jewish clubs?  Or they were ... ?


	WOMAN


Yeah, Jewish.  Mostly Jewish.


	QUESTION


Jewish.  So they had food and they had ...


	WOMAN


Yes.  Yes.


	QUESTION


... cards ...


	WOMAN


Yes. Yes.


	QUESTION


... and backgammon and all that.


	WOMAN


Araq(?).  Araq.


	QUESTION


Araq.  Yeah, I know, Araq.  So they would drink Araq.  And they had music ... music?


	WOMAN


Music.  Sometimes.


	QUESTION


Did the Muslims used to drink alcohol?


	WOMAN


No.  Not all over.  


	WOMAN


Yes.  Yes.  Yeah, they drink.


	WOMAN


Nassar used to drink.


	WOMAN


Yeah, I know.  Too ... I know.


	SALEM SASSOON


They all drink mah ... mahtiqua(?) is ...


	QUESTION


Well, were the ... were the Muslims very religious?  Were they, you know ... ?


	WOMAN


No.


	QUESTION


No.


	WOMAN


You see, we used to have a house in Baghdad next to the mosque.


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm. 


	WOMAN


And they were against it, they don't want Jews against ... near the mosque.


	QUESTION


Hmm.


	WOMAN


And even though they take my grandfath ... father, and they ... 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES)


	WOMAN


They open window on the mosque ... on the mosque.


	WOMAN


This is for a (Inaudible) ... they can't.  But they ... still they do ... they did it.


	WOMAN


And they took my grandfather ... they're ... he ... he is very good with them.


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm. 


	(OVERLAPPING VOICES)


	WOMAN


Yeah, they took him with the ... you know, the armed police, I don't know.  And then they came, many people, and they want to open our door and come to our door.  


	WOMAN


Is a ... 


	WOMAN


So my grandmother went on the window, she told them, "Shame on you men.  We are ... my husband is ... they hold him in the government."


	QUESTION


Uh-hmm. 


	WOMAN


"It's not nice to come in a house and ... "


	WOMAN


While the women alone.


	WOMAN


" ... while the women is alone."  And they went.  (Laughs) 


	QUESTION


Oh, my God.  When was that, what year?


	WOMAN


We don't know ... I don't remember.


	SALEM SASSOON


We were not born maybe.


	QUESTION


Oh, before you were born.


	SALEM SASSOON


Maybe.


	WOMAN


Because my grandfather ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Maybe 15 ...


	WOMAN


No.  Maybe before.  My grandfather died, and we was not born.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


We don't know.  We heard the story only.


	QUESTION


Now, that was when the Turks ... at that time the Turks ... 


	WOMAN


Maybe, maybe.


	QUESTION


... controlled, uh, Baghdad.


	WOMAN


And his brother, the one I told you ... my grandfather ... 


	QUESTION


Yeah.


	WOMAN


... his brother was in Turkey with Sultan Abdel Hami(?) ...


	SALEM SASSOON


Financier, he was.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


He is with them.  (Overlap) are very close to each other.


	SALEM SASSOON


With the Sultan.


	QUESTION


He was with the Sultan?  He was ...


	SALEM SASSOON


... his Financier.


	QUESTION


I see.  Wow!  Now, was it better for the Jews when the Turks were there than when the British were there?


	WOMAN


We don't know ... we don't know.


	QUESTION


You know ...


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) maybe.  What was the question?


	QUESTION


Was it better for the Jews when the Turks were there than when the, uh, British were there?


	SALEM SASSOON


Of course.  (Inaudible) the Turks.  Later on (Inaudible) ... they start raising (Overlap) ...


	WOMAN


The milk is here.


	QUESTION


Thank you.


	SALEM SASSOON


They took people, uh, for the Army and so on (Overlap) ... no, of course ... with the British, they (Inaudible) ...


	QUESTION


Oh, it was better with the British.


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh no(?).


	QUESTION


Because you mean then they didn't put you in the Army or anything?  With the British, did they used to draft you into the British Army?


	SALEM SASSOON


No, no.


	QUESTION


Thank you, no, that's fine, thank you.


	WOMAN


You have to finish.


	QUESTION


Um, were you conscious of the differences between the Sunni's and the Shiite's?  


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.  The Sunni's, they can make him forget, uh, not very quick.  With the Sunni's, never, forever.


	WOMAN


The Shia.


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah, they very (Inaudible).


	WOMAN


The Shia.  The Shia were (Inaudible).


	QUESTION


The Shi'ite's were there?  They lived in the Southern part of Iraq.


	WOMAN


Yeah, yeah.


	QUESTION


And they were more fundamentalist or more conservative, or what?


	SALEM SASSOON


The Shi'ite's ...


	WOMAN


... were very fanatic.


	SALEM SASSOON


Anything that you touch, it is ...


	WOMAN


... dirty.


	QUESTION


I see.  But there was a Jewish Community in Basra ...


	WOMAN


Yeah.


	QUESTION


... so they were living with the Shi'ite's.


	WOMAN


We ... we used to have property there.  A huge property of dates.  And we throw it all (Inaudible).  	QUESTION


Right.


	WOMAN


Maybe we'll come (Overlap) ...


	WOMAN


Now we can claim it?


	QUESTION


Yeah, you can ... the Americans (Inaudible) Federation.  You can, actually.


	WOMAN


I don't know.  Anyway, the (Inaudible) next door to us, and they used to like us very much, and while we finish Passover, they used to bring fresh bread, cream, I don't know what, everything (Overlap) ... yeah, yogurt, everything ...


	QUESTION


Oh, that's nice.


	WOMAN


... and green (Inaudible) - they bring it to us, and they were very ... if there is something on the tree at their place, they give it to us.  They are very close to us.


	QUESTION


Uh-huh, uh-huh.


	WOMAN


And (Inaudible) ... somebody also they came, and they want to break, uh, the house.  So, the Christian in front of us, they went to them, and they say, we are not Jews, those are the Jews, and we are friends with them, and look what they did.  And they came back ... my brother, he has a gun from his ... my father ... he went on the other side, he start to shoot, shoot, shoot.  They hear the shooting, and they stop.  And then, on the other hand, a friend of his mother ... he called, and he told him, everything is fine with you?  See, we're surrounded by those people.  He came right away.  He was in the ... in the Army ... he was on the plane, like the pilot.  He came, and he brought two, four, five soldiers with him, and they came, and they tell them, all go, and they left.  And they took us all to his house, and we slept over there.  They say ... he told them, those people that they stay in our house, anything missing, and we put you in jail.  So (Overlap) ...


	QUESTION


What year was this?


	WOMAN


1941!  This is during the Farhoud(?).


	QUESTION


This was during the Farhoud(?).


	WOMAN


Yeah, yeah, yeah.  They came on us.  So, the ... those people, in the evening, we have nothing to wear, nothing ... so, he told me, come with me, and I'm going to take all the things that I want to bring (Overlap) ...


	SALEM SASSOON


Mattresses, uh ...


	WOMAN


No, not mattresses ... uh, clothing ... 


	SALEM SASSOON


Clothing (Inaudible).


	WOMAN


Yeah.  So while we came, our house was full of stealing things from other people ... (Laughs) ... while he sold (Inaudible) ... he say, come on, God be willing(?).  So, that's it.


	QUESTION


Now, what about the Kurds?  What was your relation with the Kurds?


	SALEM SASSOON


There were no relations.


	QUESTION


No relation with the Kurds?


	SALEM SASSOON


No.  There was, uh (Inaudible) ...


	QUESTION


They were more in the North, in like, Mosul ...


	WOMAN


Yeah, no, yes, yes ... (Overlap) 


	WOMAN


Kirkuk (Overlap) ... the name used to be ...


	WOMAN


Armenian.


	WOMAN


Armenian, yeah.  (Inaudible).


	QUESTION


I see, I see.  Now did the help ... did they live in your house, or they went home every night?





	WOMAN


They live.  


	QUESTION


They lived in your house.


	WOMAN


We used to have a very big house.


	QUESTION


But when the Jewish people would live in your house, the Jewish help, they didn't go back to their family at night?


	WOMAN


On Saturday, I think.


	QUESTION


On Saturday nights.


	WOMAN


No, only Saturday.


	QUESTION


I see.  


	WOMAN


Uh, we used to live different than ... than my husband, you see what I mean(?).  We all went to (Inaudible) school.  


	QUESTION


Right.


	WOMAN


We finished the school.  We took brove(?) and then ... brove(?) you know, (Overlap) (Inaudible) ... no, in high school ...


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


... they take the brove(?).  And then we finished school and we went back home ... that's it ... different than (Overlap) (Inaudible) ...


	WOMAN


We are ten years ...


	QUESTION


Younger ...


	WOMAN


Younger ...


	QUESTION


So it's a different generation.  No, how ... how did you get to school every day?  Did you walk, or did you go by boat ...


	WOMAN


We walk.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


And we used to walk with someone ... she's, I think, from your family (Inaudible) ...


	QUESTION


Uh-huh.


	WOMAN


And she used to take us with her - me and my cousin, who is six year older than me ...


	QUESTION


Uh-huh.


	WOMAN


... to school, and then she brought us back.  But one day, she saw me ... I am running, and I see backward, I see if I'm going right, so I want to be independent, I go alone.


	QUESTION


Right.


	WOMAN


And that's it.  We learn how to go alone.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


And while I was to take my sister, I used to take them.


	QUESTION


I see, Uh-huh.


	WOMAN


But my brother - the older one - he went to Shamash(?).


	QUESTION


Oh, the Shamash School.


	WOMAN


Yes.


	QUESTION


I see, I see.  And that was, uh, a Jewish school?


	WOMAN


Yeah.


	QUESTION


Yeah.  I've heard of it; that's a very famous school (Overlap) ...


	WOMAN


Yeah, but in it was mixed.  


	QUESTION


Oh, (Inaudible) was Jewish and non-Jewish?


	WOMAN


Right.  


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


But it was after us.


	WOMAN


Yeah.  


	QUESTION


Did you feel any nationalistic feelings, like, you know, when Iraq became independent finally in 1932, when the British ... uh, wasn't it 1932, or was it earlier?





	WOMAN


I think earlier.


	QUESTION


Earlier?


	WOMAN


19 ... 1917, I think ... ask Salem.


	QUESTION


When ... when did Iraq become independent from the British?


	WOMAN


1917 ...


	SALEM SASSOON


In early 20s.


	QUESTION


Early 20s.  Did you feel at all nationalist?


	SALEM SASSOON


At that time ... no ... at that time, it was, uh ...


	WOMAN


The Faisal(?) - the King.


	SALEM SASSOON


You see, they speak about Palestine, about the Jewish (Inaudible Portion) ... Israel ... no one to fear ...


	QUESTION


That was the Gold ... that was the Golden Period, in the 20s.  


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible).


	WOMAN


Salem, I think 1917, the British gave up and left - 1917 they left.


	SALEM SASSOON


1917 the ... the British occupied (Inaudible).


	WOMAN


Okay, maybe I don't know.  I wasn't born.


	SALEM SASSOON


The British occupied (Inaudible) 1917.


	QUESTION


Uh-huh.


	SALEM SASSOON


And of now ... for now ... before we haven't seen (Inaudible Portion) ... nothing like that.





	QUESTION


Uh-huh. 


	SALEM SASSOON


But as soon as they come, little by little they started.  


	QUESTION


Now, did ...


	SALEM SASSOON


First time I saw a car (Inaudible) ... some car without horses - how can it run?


	QUESTION


Uh-huh.


	SALEM SASSOON


And then we used to go in the evening, there was one street, uh, (Inaudible) with electricity (Inaudible) ... so we stood there (Inaudible) to see the light.


	QUESTION


I see.  But did people go with horses and buggies or camels?


	SALEM SASSOON


Huh?  


	WOMAN


No, come on.


	QUESTION


Horses?  They had horses there?


	WOMAN


(Inaudible) the carriage?


	QUESTION


Yeah, the carriage ...


	WOMAN


With ... there were horses.


	QUESTION


Wasn't it ... wasn't it too hot for the horses?


	WOMAN


No.


	QUESTION


No, I see.


	WOMAN


They are strong.


	QUESTION


Okay.  What about the camels?  What did the camels do?  Or you never rode on camels.


	WOMAN


I rode ... I ... I rode while you went in the garden far away from Baghdad.


	QUESTION


Oh, the Carada(?)


	WOMAN


No, no, (Overlap) ... it's not there ...


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


It's (Inaudible) far ... garden, and they used to give us many food there.


	QUESTION


And then take a camel ride?


	WOMAN


Yeah.


	QUESTION


And how ...


	WOMAN


Only ... only ... not too much.


	QUESTION


A day trip?


	WOMAN


Yeah, for day trip.


	QUESTION


And how did you get there?  By car?


	WOMAN


By car.


	QUESTION


I see.


	WOMAN


(Inaudible) the car with (Inaudible).


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) ... I remember when I was young, they have few coffee shops, and every ... every coffee shops ... 


	QUESTION


Yes.


	SALEM SASSOON


... and every one from (Inaudible) ... special for the ... for the son (Overlap) ... the Jews are not ... not allowed to come.


	QUESTION


So ... but there were coffee shops that you went to.


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) ... mostly they were Shi'ite.


	QUESTION


And what about belly dancers?  When did you see the belly dancers?


	SALEM SASSOON


Oh, it was in nightclubs.


	QUESTION


Nightclubs, I see.


	SALEM SASSOON


Nightclubs, yes.


	QUESTION


Now, what were the nightclubs like?


	SALEM SASSOON


Nightclubs ... they play Arab ... Arab music, and of course, part of the show is belly dancers, and singers.





	QUESTION


Uh-huh.  And would you go to the nightclubs ...


	SALEM SASSOON


Yeah.


	QUESTION


... every few months you'd go, or something?


	SALEM SASSOON


And we ... what?


	WOMAN


Every few months you go to the nightclub?


	SALEM SASSOON


Yes.


	WOMAN


In Baghdad?


	QUESTION


Yeah.


	WOMAN


No!  (Overlap) 


	SALEM SASSOON


No, not the woman, only the men.


	QUESTION


The men.


	SALEM SASSOON


You didn't go to nightclub.


	WOMAN


No.


	QUESTION


No, I was talking to Mr. Sassoon.


	SALEM SASSOON


No.


	QUESTION


And, uh, what about the relation within the Jewish Community between rich and poor people?


	WOMAN


(Inaudible).


	QUESTION


No, but what about ...


	WOMAN


I know, but most Jewish families together(?), and they are friends, neighbors, or something ... they are friendly.


	QUESTION


But, in other words, if someone was poor in the family, the family would help them.


	WOMAN


Yeah.


	QUESTION


In other words ... but the Jewish Community also ... did they help ...


	WOMAN


Like this family used to help his sister or somebody who ... who don't have enough money ...


	QUESTION


Right.


	WOMAN


They help them.


	QUESTION


But did the Jewish Community help, you know, like they do here in the States.  They have funds ...


	WOMAN


No.  (Overlap) ...


	QUESTION


No, they didn't ... it was ... everything was organized through your family.  


	SALEM SASSOON


You asked me a question: what's the best time ...


	QUESTION


In Baghdad.


	SALEM SASSOON


The best time is during the summer, I had two very intimate friends.  And we are three(?)  We hire a boat, all summer, every day, with a nice young fellow, and, uh, every day after work, one of the friends go and get some fruit, and ...


	WOMAN


And drinks.


	SALEM SASSOON


Drinks and, uh, and the bread, and so on, and uh, the ... they were boatmen, buy two nice, uh, fish, and hang them in the water ...


	QUESTION


Uh-huh.


	SALEM SASSOON


So, after work, we go and get in the boat, and then we go up and (Inaudible) ... 


	QUESTION


The Tigris or the ...


	WOMAN


The Tigris.


	QUESTION


Okay.


	SALEM SASSOON


... take off our clothes ...


	QUESTION


Go swimming?


	SALEM SASSOON


... and start swimming.  We swim, and the boat was (Inaudible) ... all the way until we reach the ...


	QUESTION


The island?


	SALEM SASSOON


... the island.  We reach the island there, and we get out (Inaudible) ... we sit down, we have our drinks ... then the boatmen start, uh, (Inaudible) the fish, and cook them.


	QUESTION


Uh-huh.


	SALEM SASSOON


(Inaudible) ...


	QUESTION


How do you spell that?  Masgoof(?)


	SALEM SASSOON


Masgoof(?) ...


	QUESTION


How do you spell it?


	SALEM SASSOON


Masgo ...


	QUESTION


No, in English.


	WOMAN


You do it the way you want.  (Overlap) ... M-A-S-G-O-U ...


	(END OF TAPE)
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